TAYSIDE CONTRACTS JOINT COMMITTEE
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TO:
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business which has now been received.
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ITEM No …6….……..
REPORT TO:

TAYSIDE CONTRACTS JOINT COMMITTEE – 21 JUNE 2021

REPORT ON:

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2021

REPORT BY:

MANAGING DIRECTOR

REPORT NO:

JC8/2021

1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

This report complements the Tayside Contracts Annual Report for 2020/21 and
provides a summary of the key points contained within the accounts for the year to 31
March 2021.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

The Joint Committee is requested to:
a) approve the Annual Report for 2020/21 (Appendix 1) and the Financial Statements
contained within the report.
b) Approve the retention of £274k of the distributable surplus generated during
2020/21, to fund the backfill of annual leave carried forward to 2021/22, due to
the COVID pandemic, as detailed in section 6.0.
c) approve the onward submission of the Annual Report to Audit Scotland.

3.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

4.0

BACKGROUND

4.1

The Annual Report for 2020/2021 provides a review of the performance of Tayside
Contracts over the year to 31 March 2021, the key challenges which have been met
and the major achievements during the year. The Management Commentary provides
an overview of the results for the year.

4.2

The Financial Statements for 2020/21 are included in the Annual Report in the format
prescribed by the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003, the 2013 Statement of
Recommended Practice (SORP) and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy (CIPFA) Accounting Code of Practice (ACOP) which accords with
International Financial Reporting Standards.
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4.3

The Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Movement in Reserves, the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet and the Cash
Flow Statement. Statutory Trading Accounts for the Construction Division and Facilities
Services Division (comprising the Facilities Management (FM) and Catering Units) are
also included, and the Statements are supported by explanatory notes and analyses.
This report will highlight the key aspects of the Accounts.

5.0

INFORMATION

5.1

During 2020/21, income generated by Tayside Contracts activities amounted to
£73.8m, a reduction of £1.9m (2.5%) compared with 2019/20 (£75.7m). Income from
the constituent Councils decreased by £3.3m (5%) to £68.7m, while income generated
from public bodies and other customers increased by £1.5m (41%) to £5.1m. Tayside
Contracts’ income generated from work for the constituent Councils amounted to
93.2%.

5.2

Operating surplus earned from that income amounted to £1.993m (subject to section
6.0 below) which was split between £1.993m for the Construction Division, and £0 for
the Facilities Division. The surplus in 2019/20 was £1.523m. This surplus in
construction is considerably higher than the forecast value reported to the Joint
Committee in March 2021 (£1.2m). The reasons for the variance in reporting are
currently being investigated.

5.3

The budgeted surplus for distribution to the constituent Councils in 2020/21 was
£884k. An increased distribution of £1.109m (subject to section 6.0 below) will be
made to the Councils in the proportions agreed by the Joint Committee in August 2020,
report number JC12/2020 refers, (Angus Council 27.8%, Dundee City Council 29.9%
and Perth & Kinross Council 42.3%).

5.4

The financial objective set by the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 is that Trading
Accounts should achieve a break-even position over a rolling three year period. In
2020/21 the financial objective is therefore required to be measured on the trading
results for the years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21.

5.5

Under International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 (Employee Benefits), the Joint
Committee is required to include figures in the Statement of Accounts relating to the
assets, liabilities, income and expenditure in respect of Tayside Contracts share of the
Tayside Superannuation Fund, the pension scheme for Tayside Contracts employees.

5.6

Construction Division turnover at £40.8m in 2020/21 shows a decrease of £1.2m (2.9%)
against 2019/20 (£42.0m). Income from the constituent Councils decreased by £1.4m
to £39.1m. Work from other public bodies and external customers increased by £245k
to £1.7m. The focus therefore remains substantially on core Council work.
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5.7

The net statutory trading account position for the Construction Division after all the
required accounting adjustments, as detailed in the unaudited annual accounts and
before IAS 19 notional pension adjustments, amounted to a surplus of £1.5m
compared to a surplus of £0.4m in 2019/20. The variable and largely unpredictable
impact of IAS 19 is very influential on the Construction Trading Account such that, after
adjusting for these notional pension charges amounting to £2.0m, the surplus
becomes a deficit of £0.5m (2019/20 was a deficit of £1.7m after IAS 19 adjustments).

5.8

The Construction Division has had a successful year overall despite the various
challenges faced due to the pandemic. Only essential work was undertaken in the first
four months. In late July following the easing of restrictions works commenced
undertaking larger scale improvement works, Scottish Government financed active
travel projects and a period of significant winter activity. All these elements, combined
with a saving in various overheads have contributed to the level of surplus return.

5.9

The three year cumulative Trading Account position for the Construction Division
shows a surplus of £2.3m (before IAS 19 adjustments), thereby comfortably achieving
the statutory financial objective. However, the cumulative impact of IAS 19 over the
three year period is a notional charge of £6.3m. The reported trading performance
after adjusting for IAS 19 therefore shows a deficit of £4.0m over the three year period.

5.10

Facilities Services Trading Account for 2020/21 shows income of £33.0m (excluding
internal trading), a decrease of £644k (1.9%) compared with 2019/20 (£33.6m), and a
break even position (2019/20 £0.7m surplus) again after all the required accounting
adjustments, as detailed in the unaudited annual accounts. However, after adjusting
for pension charges of £4.1m as required by IAS 19, the statutory trading performance
shows a deficit of £4.1m (2019/20 was a deficit of £3m).

5.11

The underlying operational and financial performance of the Division remains sound.
However, 2020/21 saw the pandemic having an opposite impact on the two units
within the Division. The FM Unit achieved a significantly higher surplus due to the
greatly increased amount of cleaning required across the school estate and in nonschool premises. However, with schools being closed for most of the financial year
income from school and nursery meals was well below budget.

5.12

The three year cumulative position for the Facilities Services Division shows a surplus
of £1.6m, thereby very comfortably achieving the statutory financial objective. The
cumulative impact of IAS 19 over the three year period amounts to a total notional
charge of £11.8m. The reported statutory trading performance therefore reflects a
deficit of £10.2m over the three year period.

5.13

The Balance Sheet, as has been the case in previous years since the introduction of IAS
19, shows an overall net liability position as a result of the notional IAS 19 pension
liability. The net liability has decreased from £24.7m at 31 March 2020 to £16.6m at
31 March 2021.
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5.14

The Actuary has estimated that the Joint Committee has a net pension liability of
£19.2m at 31 March 2021, and the key assumptions underpinning the Actuary’s
calculations have been reviewed and accepted by Dundee City Council as the
administering authority of the pension fund. The net pension liability has decreased
this year, from £27.6m at 31 March 2020. The pension liability is notional in as much
as the pension fund liabilities and contributions will continue to be based on the
triennial actuarial valuation of the pension fund, the most recent of which was as of
31 March 2021.

5.15

Fixed assets have increased by £1.1m to £12.7m. Investment in fleet, plant and
equipment of £2.2m has been predominantly funded through borrowing £2.2m from
Dundee City Council loans fund, £0.1m from the sales proceeds of assets disposals and
£0.6m from current revenue. The investment in new and replacement assets has been
offset by depreciation charges, in line with the aim of maintaining a modern, efficient
fleet without significantly increasing the revenue cost base.

5.16

Debtors show an increase of £1.2m against 2019/20.

5.17

Creditors, predominantly reflecting amounts due to our suppliers, show an increase
against 31 March 2020, of £2.4m to £13.4m.

5.18

The bank balance at 31 March 2021 was £0.9m, an increase of £2.8m from the bank
overdraft position of £1.9m at 31 March 2020.

6.0

PROPOSALS FOR CARRY FORWARD OF ANNUAL LEAVE

6.1

The disruption caused by the COVID pandemic extended to annual leave, particularly
in our Construction teams. The usual fixed leave dates for these teams were
suspended, and a management decision was taken that, in view of the disruption of
the pandemic, all staff could carry forward more leave into the next year than is usually
allowed. Because the Construction service had been subject to lockdown for the first
four months of 2020/21, they worked additionally during the remining eight months,
both to deal with the backlog of works, but also to implement the Scottish Government
Spaces for People initiative to protect the public from COVID outdoors. This impacted
on staff taking annual leave, and therefore the carry forward of leave into the next
year is far greater than in previous years.

6.2

Tayside Contracts Corporate Leadership Team propose retaining part of the £1.993m
surplus to cover the backfill of annual leave carried forward from 2020/21. The cost of
backfilling the annual leave carry forward will be £274k and will be incurred during
2021/22. We recommend that the distributable surplus be reduced to £1.719m and
we retain £274k in an ear marked reserve to cover the impact in 2021/22. If approved
we will fully disclose the amount in our annual account.

5
7.0

DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA)

7.1

The issues considered within this report have, as required by legislation, been the
subject of consideration from a data protection perspective.
A Data Protection Impact Assessment is not required.

8.0

EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT

8.1

The issues considered within this report have, as required by legislation, been the
subject of consideration from an equalities perspective.

8.2

An equalities impact assessment (EqIA) is not required.

9.0

CONSULTATIONS

9.1

The Clerk and the Proper Officer to the Joint Committee have been consulted on the
preparation of this report.

10.0

BACKGROUND PAPERS

10.1

None.
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enquiries@taysidecontracts.co.uk
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6

7

UNAUDITED
ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
2020/21

8

9
CONTENTS

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/21

1

Tayside Contracts’ Joint Committee

2-3

Foreword to the Annual Accounts

4 - 11

Management Commentary

12 - 14

Annual Governance Statement

15 - 19

Annual Remuneration Report

20

Statement of Responsibilities for the Annual Accounts

21 – 23

Independent Auditor’s Report

24

Movement in Reserves Statement

25

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

26

Balance Sheet

27

Cash Flow Statement

28 - 54

Notes to the Financial Statements

10

11
TAYSIDE CONTRACTS’ JOINT COMMITTEE
ANGUS COUNCIL

Councillor
Bob Myles

Councillor
Tommy Stewart

Councillor
Gavin Nicol

Councillor Beth
Whiteside

Councillor
Brenda Durno

Councillor
Richard Moore

DUNDEE CITY COUNCIL

Depute Lord
Provost
Bill Campbell

Bailie Christina
Roberts

Councillor
Steven Rome

Councillor
George McIrvine

Councillor
Margaret
Richardson

Councillor
Philip Scott

PERTH AND KINROSS COUNCIL

Councillor
Angus Forbes

Councillor
Audrey Coates

Councillor Anne
Jarvis

Councillor John
Rebbeck

1

Councillor Sheila
McCole

Councillor Mike
Williamson

12

13
FOREWORD TO THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
Introduction
The Joint Committee’s financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2021 is as set out in the
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement and the financial position is as set out in the
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement.
These annual accounts have been prepared in line with the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (the Code).
The Statement of Accounts explains the Joint Committee’s finances during the financial year 2020/21
and its financial position at the end of that year. It follows approved accounting standards and is
necessarily technical in parts.
Accounting Policies
The Statement of Accounting Policies sets out the basis upon which the annual accounts have been
prepared and explains the accounting treatment of both general and specific items.
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts
This statement, as set out on page 20, sets out the main financial responsibilities of the Joint
Committee of Tayside Contracts and the Proper Officer.
The Accounting Statements
Movement in Reserves Statement
This Statement, as set out on page 24, shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held
by the Joint Committee, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that can be applied to fund
expenditure) and other reserves. The 'Deficit on provision of services' line shows the cost of providing
the Joint Committee's services and the contributions to the constituent Councils, more details of which
are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES).
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)
This statement, as set out on page 25, shows the income and expenditure in the year of providing
services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.
Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet, as set out on page 26, shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date, of the Joint
Committee's assets and liabilities. The net assets/liabilities of the Joint Committee (assets less
liabilities) are matched by the reserves held. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first
category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that may be used to fund expenditure,
subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use
(for example, the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay
debt). The second category of reserves is those that the Joint Committee is not able to use to fund
expenditure. This category includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses and reserves that
hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.
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FOREWORD TO THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Cash Flow Statement
The Cash Flow Statement, as set out on page 27, shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of
the Joint Committee during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Joint Committee
generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and
financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of
the extent to which the operations of the Joint Committee are funded by way of services provided by
the Joint Committee. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made
for resources which are intended to contribute to the Joint Committee’s future service delivery. Cash
flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers
of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Joint Committee.
Material Changes in Accounting Policy
Tayside Contracts continues to adopt the accounting policies required by the Chartered Institute of
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Local Authorities (Scotland) Accounts Advisory
Committee (LASAAC). There were no changes in accounting policies during 2020/21.
Acknowledgements
I would like to thank all Members of the Joint Committee and staff of Tayside Contracts for their
support throughout what has again been a challenging but successful year. In particular, I would like
to thank all of the finance staff for their commitment and hard work throughout the year and for their
contribution to the finalisation of Tayside Contracts 2020/21 Statement of Accounts.

Robert Emmott BSc, CPFA
Proper Officer
Tayside Contracts
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY
Purpose
The purpose of this management commentary is to provide all our stakeholders and the public
pertinent strategic and financial information on the performance of Tayside Contracts for the financial
year 2020/21.
It also identifies the principal risks and challenges the organisation will be facing going forward and
gives details in general terms on how these will be mitigated.
About us
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee (“Tayside Contracts” or “the Joint Committee”) is an excellent
example of local authorities working together to the benefit of the public.
It is a commercial trading organisation of Angus, Dundee City and Perth and Kinross Councils being
constituted under a Minute of Agreement entered into by the three constituent Councils in 1996,
following local government reorganisation. The Minute of Agreement was last revised in 2018.
Tayside Contracts operates under a Joint Committee, comprising of 18 elected members:
- 6 elected members from Angus Council
- 6 elected members from Dundee City Council
- 6 elected members from Perth and Kinross Council
Tayside Contracts enables the constituent Councils to benefit from the economies of scale and
retention of specialist services which the organisation offers. Our main business activities are the
provision of catering, cleaning, facilities management, roads maintenance, winter maintenance,
construction and transport related services.
In addition, year on year Tayside Contracts has demonstrated what can be achieved through Councils
sharing resources. Tayside Contracts clearly meets the stated aims of the Scottish Government and
UK Government’s reform agenda of shared services within the public sector being the preferred way
forward for the future.
Tayside Contracts:
 Is unique within Scotland as a joint local authority trading organisation.
 Employs around 2,500 people in 3,330 posts, with a number of employees filling more than
one post.
 Has an annual turnover of £74 million.
 Returns surpluses to the three constituent Councils for reinvestment in services. Since 1996
it has returned some £30 million to the Councils in the form of surpluses.
Our main clients are the constituent Councils and our customers are the residents and businesses
who live and operate in the Tayside area.
Strategy
The Business Plan is a critical document for the success of Tayside Contracts, as it sets the
organisation’s direction for the next three years. The previous Business Plan for the period 2017 to
2020, (report number JC12/2017 approved by the Joint Committee at its meeting on 26 June 2017)
expired at the end of financial year 2019/20, but was extended by another year due to the global
pandemic (report no: JC07/2020).
Due to the exceptional circumstances of the global pandemic during the last 12 months, and the need
to prioritise management and staff activities to ensuring the safety and wellbeing of our employees
and communities, progress with many of the actions in the previous Business Plan had to be
suspended.
To ensure the strengthened governance and continued engagement of the constituent Councils
during these exceptional times, we have continued to involve the Governance and Strategy Group
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(GSG), which consists of a senior representative from each of the three Councils and the Managing
Director of Tayside Contracts, in the recovery process during the pandemic and will continue to do so
going forward. In addition to this, reports regarding the impact of the pandemic and the actions
around the recovery processes were reported to the Joint Committee over the previous 12 months.
In early 2021 a new business plan was developed. The new Business Plan for 2021-24 reflects the
highly dynamic environment in which we are operating, particularly as we look to recover from the
harm of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Plan also builds on the internal strengths of the organisation,
and the opportunities available; whilst countering the weaknesses and threats facing Tayside
Contracts.
This Plan has benefitted by being created jointly, through extensive engagement with a wide range of
stakeholders:1) Development Sessions with members of the Joint Committee on 4 February 2021.
2) Development session with the Governance and Strategy Group (GSG) on 12 February
2021. The GSG consists of a senior officer of each of the constituent Councils and the
members of the Tayside Contracts Executive Officer Team (EOT)
3) Engagement session with affiliated Trade Unions on 10 February 2021.
4) Multiple development sessions with managers across all areas of Tayside Contracts, and
engagement sessions with members of staff during February/ March 2021.

The contribution and advice from these stakeholder groups were invaluable in producing a Business
Plan which is ambitious, and which aligns with the expectations of the Joint Committee and
constituent Councils, whilst drawing on the passion creativity and experience of our staff within the
organisation.
Our vision for Tayside Contracts is to be:
“A high performing and expanding shared service; proud of what we do and chosen for how
we do it’”.
The Business Plan is built on 5 Strategic Priorities (the 5 ‘Cs’):
•
•
•
•
•

Confidence, Trust and Relationships
Commercial Approach
Collaboration and Sharing
Continuous Improvement and Performance
Communities, Councils and Customers

Relevant actions and performance indicators have been incorporated into the new Business Plan, and
will be monitored, and reported to the Joint Committee in future.
A full copy of the approved Business Plan can be found on our website: https://www.taysidecontracts.co.uk/_assets/_user/files/Publications/BusinessPlan_Final_V2.pdf

Results
The significant financial figure for 2020/21 is that, as an organisation, we achieved an overall
distributable surplus of £1,993k which exceeded our budgeted surplus of £884k. This surplus was
achieved through the strong performance and contribution by all parts of the organisation.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
As has been reported, this year has been exceptional in many ways. It has been a significantly
challenging and unpredictable period for Tayside Contracts and its constituent Councils, due to the
COVID-19 pandemic and the varying lockdowns and restrictions throughout the year and this is
reflected in the performance and surplus returns across the Construction and Facilities Services
Divisions and their associated units.
During the first four months of the financial year, as the country was in `lockdown`, the three
constituent Councils agreed to pay for a Standby Service for Tayside Contracts which covered the
organisation`s fixed costs. It was also agreed that any additional direct costs that were incurred, were
to be invoiced separately. A reconciliation was carried out to calculate the financial impact of this
initial four month period, and the resultant invoices/credit notes were raised during December 2020.
This exercise has been complex, as the financial systems we use are not built to produce financial
information in this manner. In addition, we are comparing income and costs to a budget for an
organisation which was not operating in the normal manner, due to COVID-19
Nevertheless, the surplus being returned to the constituent Councils is well in excess of the budgeted
surplus which the Joint Committee require us to make in terms of the target set in the business plan.
The surplus was achieved from an income of £73,825k which is a £1,938k or 2.6% decrease on the
2019/20 figure of £75,763k. Construction Division turnover decreased by £83k from last year and the
Facilities Services Division turnover decreased by £67k.
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure shows a Deficit on Provision of Services of £7,151k
which after various accounting adjustments (including IAS19 pension adjustments) moves the deficit
to the distributable surplus. Excluding the effects of the accounting adjustments required by
International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS19), our two trading operations, namely the Construction
and Facilities Services Divisions would have complied with the requirements of the Local Government
in Scotland Act 2003 legislation in achieving a break-even position over a rolling three year period.
The statutory trading surpluses achieved over the three year period in question are £2,330k for the
Construction Division and £1,552k for the Facilities Services Division. However, after making the
accounting adjustments (IAS 19), Employee Benefits to take account of future pension liabilities, a
charge is made against the trading accounts. The effect of this adjustment for the three year period is
to reduce the Facilities Services trading account surplus to a loss of £10,238k, and to turn the
Construction Division position into a loss of £4,007k.
Trading Performance
The Construction Division comprises road maintenance and winter maintenance operations, street
lighting, quarry, sign shop and fleet. During 2020/21, income generated by the Construction Division
was up below expectations by £367k. Related costs such as labour, materials, plant and subcontractors, however, decreased by £1,929k against budget, resulting in a surplus of £1,993k, being
£1,562k better than budget.
The Construction Division has had a successful year overall despite the various challenges faced due
to the pandemic. Only essential work was undertaken in the first four months with a significant
number of employees being stood down or furloughed. In late July following the easing of restrictions
works commended undertaking larger scale improvement works and Scottish Government financed
active travel projects. Although faced with a second lockdown in December unlike in March,
construction work was not affected. Winter got off to a relatively slow start however, significant activity
from late December resulted in winter hours being the third highest recorded over the last ten years.
All these elements, combined with a saving in various overheads have contributed to the level of
surplus return.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
The figures shown in the tables below are adjusted to reflect the elimination of all inter-divisional
trading, and to include all statutory and proper accounting adjustments.

Construction Division
Turnover
Expenditure
Surplus

Budget
£’000
41,161
(40,730)

Actual
£’000
40,794
(38,801)

Variance
£’000
(367)
1,929

431

1,993

1,562

(Unfavourable)
Favourable
Favourable

The Facilities Services Division comprises the Facilities Management (FM) and Catering Units. The
underlying operational and financial performance of the Division remains sound. However, 2020/21
saw the pandemic having an opposite impact on the two units within the Division. The FM Unit
achieved a significantly higher surplus due to the greatly increased amount of cleaning required
across the school estate and in non-school premises. However, with schools being closed for most of
the financial year income from school and nursery meals was well below budget.
Facilities Services Division
Turnover
Expenditure
Surplus

Budget
£’000
37,833
(37,380)

Actual
£’000
33,023
(33,023)

Variance
£’000
(4,810)
4,357

(Unfavourable)
Favourable

453

0

(453)

(Unfavourable)

The overall financial performance against budget therefore shows an overall surplus of £1,993k
earned from turnover of £73,825k, against a target surplus of £884k.
Tayside Contracts - Total
Turnover
Expenditure
Surplus

Budget
£’000
78,994
(78,110)

Actual
£’000
73,825
(71,832)

Variance
£’000
(5,169)
6,278

884

1,993

1,109

(Unfavourable)
Favourable
Favourable

Expenditure and Funding Analysis
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis (Note 5) shows how annual expenditure is used and funded
from resources by Tayside Contracts in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by the
organisation in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how this
expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Tayside Contracts trading
operations. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is
presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES).
Note 10 explains how deficits per Trading Accounts turn into distributable surplus for the year. It also
gives the Construction Division’s and the Facilities Services Division’s share in making our
distributable surplus. For information, note 9 explains how the Trading Accounts results feed into the
CIES.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Balance Sheet
Tayside Contracts’ pension liability, as measured in accordance with International Accounting
Standards 19 – Employee Benefits (IAS 19), again dominates the Balance Sheet as at 31 March
2021. A net current liability value of £211k (2019/20: £1.217k) is offset by long term liabilities
including the pension liability of £19,222k (2019/20: £27,580k) to create a net liability position of
£16,574k (2019/20: £24,713k). Net liabilities decreased by £8,139 year on year. Of this, £8,358k is
due to the afore-mentioned pension liability. Non-current assets increased by £1,098k, to £12,692k,
with £3,144k invested in new assets, offset by depreciation charges and disposals. Long term
liabilities, excluding the IAS19 liability, have increased by £2,323k to £9,833k due to increased
borrowing.
As at 31 March 2021, provisions had increased by £290k from the previous year to £1,213k. A
decrease to the insurance provision is offset by an increase to the quarry re-instatement, remedial
works and holiday pay provisions. All provisions are reviewed annually to ensure that all known
liability exposures are adequately accounted for.
At 31 March 2021, the bank balance of £945k showed an increase against the previous year end
balance of £2,804k. Overall, net current liabilities decreased by £1,006k to £211k.
The usable reserves balance of £680k comprise the General Fund. The constituent Councils will
determine whether they want the full surplus of £1,994k returned to them or whether they will permit
Tayside Contracts to retain some of the surplus to be held in the usable reserves General Fund.
Cash Flow
The Cash Flow Statement shows a net inflow of cash during 2020/21 of £2,795k. The major
influences behind this movement are an inflow of £6,617k from operating activities, offset by cash
outflows to meet capital and financing expenditure of £2,984k. This has resulted in a bank balance of
£945k at 31 March 2021, compared to an overdraft of £1,859k at 31 March 2020.
The management of cash flow is one of the key financial indicators for Tayside Contracts with an
average overdraft target of £2,500k. We are pleased to report that this has again been achieved.
However, this does not tell the whole story as a management decision was again taken this year not
to draw down the money for capital expenditure payments until the end of the year due to favourable
overdraft interest rates.
Debt Management
Along with the cash flow, debt management is one of the key priorities of Tayside Contracts given the
challenging trading conditions, particularly within the Construction industry. The procedures which
were put in place some years ago have once again ensured that the bad debt provision this year is
minimal. £10k was written off in 2020/21.
Surplus Distribution
The requirement of our major stakeholders Angus, Dundee City and Perth & Kinross Councils, as
detailed in our business plan report approved by the Joint Committee at its meeting on 26 June 2017,
report number JC12/2017 refers, is that we return to them a minimum surplus of £750k per annum. As
a result of this year’s strong financial performance, a surplus of £1,993k can be returned to the
constituent Councils.
The surplus is distributed in terms of the agreed percentage share of the business report which was
approved by the Joint Committee at its meeting on 28 July 2014 and applies to the previous year’s
turnover values. Therefore, using this methodology the 2020/21 percentages which were calculated
based on the constituent Councils’ turnover for 2019/20 gives Angus Council 27.8%, Dundee City
Council 29.9% and Perth & Kinross Council 42.3%.
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The Market
Most of Tayside Contracts’ income comes from our constituent Councils, either through a partnering
agreement, an awarded works basis or through competitive tendering, depending on each Council’s
best value criteria. In 2020/21 the percentage of work which Tayside Contracts obtained from the
constituent Councils was 93.2%. The balance of the 6.8% of income not from the constituent
Councils was predominantly generated through the sale of materials from Collace Quarry and
external works carried out by the Construction Division.
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
The table below details the target KPIs for 2020/21 from our Business Plan and the actual results.
The KPIs are monitored by the Joint Committee every six months.

Please refer to published Annual Performance Reports on our website: https://www.taysidecontracts.co.uk/publications.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Our Employees
The success of Tayside Contracts is very much due to the work of our employees. This has been no
exception during the last 12months, with many of our employees having gone above and beyond,
working tirelessly throughout the pandemic. Without this commitment and dedication many of the core
services that our stakeholders have been required to deliver in social care, education, managing
testing centres and vaccination centres, as well as keeping the road network serviced and maintained
in various weather conditions would not have been possible.

Outlook: budget, principal risks, uncertainties and opportunities
The greatest challenge we continue to face will be recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic, as this
will fundamentally affect the way in which all business operates in the future. At the time of writing
this we are coming out of a second lockdown with restrictions easing however, what we have
experienced over the last 12 months tells us we need to remain cautious as things can change very
quickly. One thing is for sure we will be operating in a different environment for some time to come
and how we deliver services will change.
Prior to the pandemic we had already been facing reductions in the budgets of our constituent
Councils which would have impacted on our budget. The budgets for 202/22 were prepared against a
backdrop of uncertainty associated with the global pandemic and increasing budget pressures within
the constituent Councils. The uncertain climate also meant that our budget was prepared before each
of the three constituent Councils had held their budget setting meetings.
Under normal
circumstances, these meetings would be held several weeks before and we would be aware of the
outcome of the Councils’ budget decisions.
The information we had available when preparing our initial budget for 2021/22 was that the overall
workload for the Construction Division was expected to be around £41,479k, £320k (0.8%) higher
than the budgeted level for 2020/21. There was reasonable confidence at that time that the share of
the available work which we would be able to secure along with income from third parties would be
sufficient to keep the workforce gainfully employed for 2021/22.
In the case of the Facilities Services Division the available budgets along with the projected meal
numbers and the need for increased cleaning regimes also appeared to be sufficient to keep the
workforce fully employed. The projected income for this Division was £39,771K some £1,938K (5.3%)
more than the budgeted level for 2020/21.
In terms of cost pressures, the effect of inflation was not a significant issue in 2020/21, however there
are areas around national pay awards and the impact of increasing oil prices and the effects the down
turn in production across various industry sectors during the pandemic is having on supply which is
likely to drive up costs through demand.
Overall the 2021/22 budget identified a potential surplus of £835k, which was approved at the Joint
Committee meeting on 15th March 2021. Although not anticipated to be an issue in the coming year
there is no doubt there will be significant financial challenges for all on the horizon.
The key to Tayside Contracts’ future success will be our ability to manage, and where possible,
reduce costs throughout the organisation and by working with our clients to change specifications and
methods of service delivery to enable costs both now and in the future to be fully funded. This is a
key element of the new business plan with a detailed action plan covering these points. Internally,
savings have already been delivered and will continue to be delivered through the adoption of “Lean”
techniques, known as BIT (Business Improvement Techniques) within the Construction Division.
Similar principles have been applied within the Facilities Services Division and the Support Services
units, to deliver efficiency and costs savings.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
While there will be many challenges going forward associated with COVID-19 there will also be
opportunities particularly regarding the provision of additional cleaning works etc. The coming on
stream of the Tay Cuisine, Central Production Unit is a key example of opportunities to reduce unit
costs but also expand to support other councils in the delivery of the Early Years role out.
The current two metres social distancing restrictions continue to limit the number of employees who
can work together in a kitchen and other work environments. Even if this was reduced to one metre,
this would still cause restrictions. This will impact on potential income and staffing numbers.
In conclusion, we have clear strategies in place, and strong and determined corporate and senior
management teams to ensure that Tayside Contracts continues to build on its past successes to
ensure a successful future in the years to come.

Keith McNamara BSc (Hons), MBA, FREHIS
Managing Director
Tayside Contracts

Robert Emmott BSc, CPFA
Proper Officer
Tayside Contracts

Councillor Angus Forbes
Convener
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Scope of Responsibility
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in
accordance with the law and appropriate standards thereby ensuring that public funds and assets at
its disposal are safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and
effectively. The Joint Committee also has a duty to secure continuous improvement in the way its
services are delivered.
In discharging these responsibilities, elected members and senior officers are responsible for
implementing effective arrangements for governing the Joint Committee’s affairs and facilitating the
effective exercise of its functions, including arrangements for the management of risk.
To this end the Joint Committee has approved and adopted a local Code of Corporate Governance
that is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework Delivering Good Governance
in Local Government. Tayside Contracts’ Chief Finance Officer's (Proper Officer) complies with the
principles set out in CIPFA's Role of the Chief Financial Officer (2016). This statement explains how
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee delivers good governance and reviews the effectiveness of these
arrangements.
The Joint Committee’s Governance Framework
The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values by which the
Joint Committee is directed and controlled. It also describes the way it engages with, accounts to and
leads the local community through the services it provides to the three constituent Councils. It
enables the Joint Committee to monitor the achievement of its objectives and consider whether those
objectives have resulted in the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services.
The Local Code of Corporate Governance is supported by detailed evidence of compliance which is
reviewed by the Managing Director and the Corporate Management Team.
Within the overall control arrangements, the system of internal financial control is intended to ensure
that assets are safeguarded, transactions are authorised and properly recorded, and material errors
or irregularities are either prevented or would be detected within a timely period. It is based on a
framework of regular management information, financial regulations, administrative procedures
(including segregation of duties), management supervision and a system of delegation and
accountability.
The overall control arrangements include:
• Identifying the Joint Committee’s objectives in the Business Plan, subsequently translated into
actions in corporate, divisional and unit service improvement plans
• Monitoring of objectives and service performance by senior officers of the Joint Committee
• Comprehensive revenue and capital budgeting systems
• Setting targets to measure financial and other performance
• Preparation of regular financial monitoring reports which indicate actual and projected
expenditure against budget
• Annual financial reports which indicate actual financial performance against budget
• Clearly defined Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegation, Financial Regulations and Tender
Procedures
• Formal project appraisal techniques and project management disciplines
• An Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption policy and Fraud Policy
• Regular reporting of performance and projected outcomes to the Joint Committee
• Public performance reporting by means of an Annual Performance Report
• IT Security policy
• Employee code of conduct
• Effective Human Resources policies
• Annual performance appraisals
• Risk management strategy
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
Review of Effectiveness
Members and officers of the Joint Committee are committed to the concept of sound governance and
the effective delivery of services and consider comments made by external auditors and other review
agencies and inspectorates. The effectiveness of the governance framework is reviewed annually by
the Managing Director and the Corporate Management Team, including the use of a self-assessment
tool involving completion of a 55-point checklist covering seven key areas of governance:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Service Planning and Performance Management
Internal Control Environment
Fraud Prevention and Detection
Budgeting, Accounting and Financial Control
Risk Management and Business Continuity
Asset Management
Partnerships

This self-assessment indicates a high level of compliance.
The Joint Committee operates a range of corporate financial systems, which are subject to review by
both internal audit and by the external auditor, Audit Scotland, who have been appointed for the five
year period from 2016/17. Wylie & Bisset were appointed as internal auditors initially for 3 years from
2016/17. This has been extended by a further 2 years in line with the contract. A strategic internal
audit plan was developed from which the audit plan for 2020/21 was formulated and approved by the
Joint Committee.
The internal audit service operates in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Standards 2013 and
takes cognisance of the standards promoted by CIPFA and other external organisations such as Audit
Scotland. In undertaking its duties, the internal audit service has unrestricted access to all data and
records and is responsible for providing an independent opinion to the Joint Committee on the
effectiveness of the internal control environment and the degree to which it supports and promotes
the achievement of the Joint Committee’s objectives. The key thrust of internal audit work is to
objectively examine, evaluate and report on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources.
The key areas covered in the 2020/21 internal audit programme were:
•
•
•
•

Data Protection Legislation
Human Resources and Payroll
Risk Management
Disaster Recovery

A significant amount of focused internal audit work has been carried out by Wylie & Bisset and agreed
reports and action plans have been presented to the Joint Committee. All agreed areas for
improvement identified are being progressed to appropriate timescales, as are actions brought
forward from previous years’ audits. Most of the remaining agreed actions brought forward are either
fully implemented or partly/substantially complete. In the annual internal audit report presented to the
Joint Committee, Wylie & Bisset provide an independent opinion which reports positively on the
adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes to manage the
achievement of Tayside Contracts objectives.
During 2020/21, the Managing Director commissioned Wylie & Bisset to carry out a Management
Assurance Review into the financial systems and processes within Tayside Contracts. This review is
ongoing at this stage, and the outcome will be reported to the Joint Committee.
The existence of an internal audit service does not diminish the responsibility of management to
ensure the effectiveness of internal financial control in the Joint Committee’s systems and
dependence should not be placed on this service as a substitute for effective controls.
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
Continuous Improvement
The focus for the year was centred around dealing with and reacting to COPVID-19 and the
associated recovery. This resulted in a lot of the normal day to day practices having to be
delayed/deferred. Areas of improvement historically identified and reported via the Joint Committee in
the form of the Annual Governance Action Plan and Corporate Service Improvement Plans were
monitored however, it wasn’t feasibly practicable to progress. The previous areas identified for
improvement are being reviewed in conjunction with those arising from the development of the new
business plan and will form part of the future plans.
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic we have had to move away from historical means of
communication and reporting. To ensure that there was still appropriate governance of Tayside
Contracts, regular updates have been provided to the Convener and Vice Conveners in the form of
reports, emails and telephone calls. Senior management from Tayside Contracts and the constituent
Councils have worked closely throughout the period to ensure that services required from the
Councils were continuing to be provided by Tayside Contracts albeit in a different way than provide
previously.
The Joint Committee meetings have continued to be held via virtual Teams meetings, it is the
intention to continue with virtual Joint Committee meetings for the foreseeable future. Virtual
Governance and Strategy Group meetings have also been held during this period as part of the
governance process.
In conclusion it is our opinion that the annual review of governance together with the work of internal
and external auditors and certifications of assurance from senior managers provide sufficient
evidence that the principles of good governance operated effectively and the Joint Committee
complies with the Local Code of Corporate Governance in all significant respects. It is proposed
through 2021/22 that steps are taken to address the areas identified for improvement to further
enhance the Joint Committee’s governance arrangements.

Keith McNamara BSc (Hons), MBA, FREHIS
Managing Director
Tayside Contracts

Councillor Angus Forbes
Convener
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT
Introduction
Tayside Contracts is required to prepare and publish within its Statement of Accounts an Annual
Remuneration Report under the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014. The following
report has been prepared in accordance with the aforementioned Regulations.
The report sets out the remuneration and accrued pension benefits of the Senior Employees of the
organisation. The report also provides information on the number of employees (including Senior
Employees) whose total actual remuneration was £50,000 or more; this information being disclosed in
salary bandings of £5,000.
Tayside Contracts’ External Auditor is required to audit certain parts of the Remuneration Report and
give a separate opinion in his report as to whether the Remuneration Report has been properly
prepared in accordance with the Regulations. The tables “General Disclosure by Pay Band”,
“Remuneration for Relevant Persons” and “Exit Packages” along with the Pension Benefits section
are subject to audit, and the remainder of the report is subject to review.
Remuneration Arrangements
The salary of senior employees is set by reference to national arrangements.
The Scottish Joint Negotiating Committee (SJNC) for Local Authority Services sets the salaries for the
Chief Executives of Scottish Local Authorities. Circular CO/148 sets the amount of salary for the
Chief Executives of the Scottish Local Authorities for the period 2015 to 2017.
The salary of Tayside Contracts’ Managing Director is based on a comparison with Chief Officials
within other local authorities and takes account of the unique additional responsibilities of this post
compared to that of these posts. This was agreed by the Joint Committee at its meeting on 27
January 2003, report number JC1/2003 entitled “Review of Chief Officers’ Salaries” refers.
General Disclosure by Pay Band
The table below details the number of employees whose remuneration was £50,000 or more.

Remuneration Bands ( £ )

Number of Employees
2019-20
2020-21
1
6
3
1
5
6
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

50,000 – 54,999
55,000 – 59,999
60,000 – 64,999
65,000 – 69,999
70,000 – 74,999
85,000 – 89,999
90,000 - 94,999
110,000 – 115,000
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
Remuneration for Relevant Persons
This following table provides details of the remuneration for those employees designated as being
“Senior Employees” within the relevant legislative guidance.
The senior employees included in the report include any employee who has responsibility for
management of the organisation to the extent that the person has power to direct or control the major
activities of the organisation (including activities involving the expenditure of money), during the year
to which the Report relates, whether solely or collectively with other persons, and as such, constitutes
the members of the Executive Officers Team of Tayside Contracts.

Post

Post Holder

2019/20 Total
Remuneration
£’000

2020/21 Total
Remuneration
£’000

Managing Director

Keith
McNamara
Iain Waddell

114

40
73

Head of FM and Human
Resources

Frank Reilly

91

95

Dougie
89
McKay
There is no remuneration paid in respect of Councillors by Tayside Contracts.
Head of Operations

94

Pension Benefits
The Local Government (Discretionary Payments and Injury Benefits) (Scotland) Regulations 1998
make provision for authorities to make discretionary payments to local government employees to pay
compensation for premature retirement. A person who has been granted a credited period is entitled
to receive compensation in the form of a lump sum and is also entitled to receive annual
compensation. Where applicable, both the lump sum and annual compensation is included within the
compensation for loss of employment category.
Pension disclosure
Pension benefits for local government employees are provided through the Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS).
For local government employees from 1 April 2015 this is a career average pension scheme. Prior to
this it was a final salary pension scheme. The scheme’s normal retirement age for employees is 65.
At 1 April 2009 a five tier contribution system was introduced with contributions from scheme
members being based on how much pay falls into each tier. This was designed to give more equality
between the costs and benefits of scheme membership as prior to that the contributions rates were
set at 6% for all non-manual employees. In 2014/15 this changed going forward to having more tiers
and contribution rates.
The marginal rates of pension contribution paid by members, including Senior Employees, are shown
in the table below. The contributions to the pension scheme made by the Senior Employees included
in this report in 2020/21 amounted to £26k (2019/20: £24k).
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
Contribution
Rate
2019/20 and 2020/21
5.50%

Whole Time Pay
On earnings up to and including £21,800 (2018/19: up to £21,300)
On earnings above £21,801 to £26,700 (2018/18: £21,300 to £26,100)

7.25%

On earnings above £26,701 to £36,600 (2018/19: £26,100 to £35,700)

8.50%

On earnings above £36,601 to £48,800 (2018/19: £35,700 to £47,600)

9.50%

On earnings above £48,801 (2018/19: above £47,600)

12.00%

If a person works part-time their contribution rate is worked out on the whole-time pay rate for the job,
with actual contributions paid on actual pay earned. There is no automatic entitlement to a lump sum.
Members may opt to give up (commute) pension for lump sum up to the limit set by the Finance Act
2004. From 1 April 2015 the scheme is a career average scheme; prior to this it was a final salary
based scheme where the accrual rate guarantees a pension based on 1/60th of final pensionable
salary and years of pensionable service. (Prior to 2009 the accrual rate guaranteed a pension based
on 1/80th and a lump sum based on 3/80th of final pensionable salary and years of pensionable
service).
Assumptions and Contextual Information
The value of the accrued benefits has been calculated on the basis of the age at which the person will
first become entitled to receive a pension on retirement without reduction on account of its payment at
that age; without exercising any option to commute pension entitlement into a lump sum; and without
any adjustment for the effects of future inflation. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that
the person has accrued as consequence of their total local government service, and not just their
current appointment.
Pension Benefits of Senior Employees
The pension entitlements of Senior Employees for the year to 31 March 2021 are shown in the table
below, together with the contribution made by the Joint Committee to each Senior Employees’
pension during the year.
In-year pension
contributions
For Year to
For Year to
31 March
31 March
2020
2021
Post Holder

£’000

£’000

19

12

Keith
McNamara

-

8

Head of FM and
Human Resources

Frank Reilly

16

16

Head of
Operations

Dougie
McKay

15

16

Post

Iain Waddell

Accrued Pension Benefits

Pension
Lump
Sum

As at 31
March
2021

Difference from
31 March 2020

£’000

£’000

55
96

3
3

Managing Director

17

Pension
Lump
Sum
Pension
Lump
Sum
Pension
Lump
Sum

1
-

1
-

41
65

3
3

39
55

3
2
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
In considering the accrued pension benefits figures the following contextual information should be
taken into account:
(i)

the figures for pension and lump sum are illustrative only in light of the assumptions set out
above and do not necessarily reflect the actual benefits that any individual may receive upon
retirement.

(ii)

the accrued benefits figures are reflective of the pension contributions that both the employer
and the scheme member have made over a period of time. In 2020/21, the scheme member
effective contribution rate for Senior Employees was in the range of 5.0% to 10.0% of
pensionable pay. In 2020/21, the employer contribution rate was 17.0% of pensionable pay
for all members, including Senior Employees.

Exit packages
During the year, a number of exit packages were agreed. The total cost per band and total cost of all
exit packages are set out in the table below:
2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

Number of
departures

Number of
departures

Cost of
departures

Cost of
departures

Number

Number

£’000

£’000

-

124

Voluntary
£0

-

£20,000

-

£20,001

-

£40,000

-

14
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

14

-

124

7

-

16

-

£40,001
£60,001

-

£60,000
£80,000

Total voluntary exits

-

Compulsory
£0

-

£20,000

£20,001

-

£40,000

-

-

Total compulsory exits

7

-

16

-

Total exit packages

7

14

16

124
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
Trade Union Facility Time
During the year a number of employees were Trade Union Representatives. The employee number,
percentage of working hours on facility time and percentage of the total pay cost from September
2020 – March 2021 are set out in the table below:
Number of Employees who were Trade Union
Representatives

27

Number of
Representatives

Percentage of working hours on facility time
0%

19

1%-50%

11

Total cost of facility
time

Total Pay Cost

Percentage of the total pay cost
spent on facility time

£5,193

£35,406,959

0.01%

Keith McNamara BSc (Hons), MBA, FREHIS
Managing Director
Tayside Contracts

Councillor Angus Forbes
Convener
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ANNUAL
ACCOUNTS
The Responsibilities of the Joint Committee
The Joint Committee is required to:
•

•
•

•

Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that the
proper officer of the authority has responsibility for the administration of those affairs (section 95
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973). In this authority, that officer is the Director of
Corporate Services, Dundee City Council as Proper Officer for this purpose while the daily
management of the financial affairs is conducted by the Managing Director of Tayside Contracts.
Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its
assets.
Ensure the Annual Accounts are prepared in accordance with legislation (The Local Authority
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014), and so far as is compatible with that legislation, in
accordance with proper accounting practices (section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland Act
2003).
Approve the audited Annual Accounts for signature.

I confirm that these Annual Accounts were approved for signature by the Joint Committee at its
meeting on 30 August 2021.

Signed on behalf of Tayside Contracts
Councillor Angus Forbes
Convener, Tayside Contracts Joint Committee
The Responsibilities of the Proper Officer
The Proper Officer is responsible for the preparation of Tayside Contracts’ Statement of Accounts in
terms of the CIPFA/ LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
(‘the Code of Practice’).
In preparing these Annual Accounts, the Proper Officer has:
•
•
•
•

Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently
Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent
Complied with legislation
Complied with the Code of Practice.

The Proper Officer has also:
•
•

Kept proper accounting records which were up to date
Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

I certify that the audited Annual Accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of Tayside
Contracts at the reporting date and the transactions of Tayside Contracts for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Robert Emmott BSc, CPFA
Proper Officer, Tayside Contracts
30 August 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF TAYSIDE CONTRACTS JOINT COMMITTEE AND THE
ACCOUNTS COMMISSION
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion on financial statements
I certify that I have audited the financial statements in the annual accounts of Tayside Contracts Joint
Committee for the year ended 31 March 2021 under Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland) Act
1973. The financial statements comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement, Balance Sheet, Cash-Flow Statement and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Code
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (the 2020/21 Code).
In my opinion the accompanying financial statements:
•
give a true and fair view in accordance with applicable law and the 2020/21 Code of the
state of affairs of Tayside Contracts Joint Committee as at 31 March 2021 and of its income and
expenditure for the year then ended;
•
have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
as interpreted and adapted by the 2020/21 Code; and
•
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government
(Scotland) Act 1973, The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and the Local
Government in Scotland Act 2003.
Basis for opinion
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Richard Smith CPFA
Senior Audit Manager
4th Floor, 8 Nelson Mandela Place
Glasgow, G2 1BT
30 August 2021
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH

General
Fund
Balance
£’000

Capital
Receipts
Reserve
(Note 27)
£’000

Total
Usable
Reserves
£’000

Total
Unusable
Reserves
(Note 28)
£’000

Total
Reserves
£’000

680

-

680

(22,926)

(22,246)

(6,653)
-

-

(6,653)

4,186

(6,653)
4,186

(6,653)

-

(6,653)

4,186

2,467

6,653

-

6,653

Balance as at 31 March 2019
Movement in Reserves During the Year
Deficit on provision of services
Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

-

Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations (Note 14)
Increase in Year

-

Balance as at 31 March 2020

-

680

(6,653)

-

(2,467)

(2,467)

(25,393)

(24,713)

680

-

(7,151)
(7,151)

-

(7,151)
(7,151)

15,290
15,290

(7,151)
15,290
(8,139)

7,151

-

7,151

(7,151)

-

-

-

-

8,139

8,139

(17,254)

(16,574)

Movement in Reserves During the Year
Deficit on provision of services
Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations (Note 14)
Increase/(Decrease) in Year
Balance as at 31 March 2021

680

-

680

The notes on pages 28 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR TO 31 MARCH
2019/20
Note
Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Gross
Income
£’000

Net
£’000

Gross
Expenditure
£’000

2020/21
Gross
Income
£’000

Net
£’000

Construction Division

5,6,9

(43,244)

41,983

(1,261)

(40,986)

40,794

(192)

Facilities Services
Division

5,7,9

(36,720)

33,667

(3,053)

(37,062)

33,023

(4,039)

(79,964)

75,650

(4,314)

(78,049)

73,817

(4,231)

Deficit on Continuing
Operations
Other Operating Income
Financing and
Investment Expenditure
Contributions to
constituent Councils

15

140

16

(955)

134
(1,061)
(1,993)

5,12

(1,523)

Deficit on Provision of
Services

(6,652)

(7,151)

4,186

15,290

Other Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure

4,186

15,290

Total Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure

(2,466)

8,139

Actuarial gains/(losses)
on pension assets and
liabilities

34

The notes on pages 28 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

25

37
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH
Note

31 March 2020
£’000

31 March 2020
31 March 2021
£’000

10,442
1,152

12,692
-

11,594

12,692

1,926
13,069
5

1,984
14,264
950

15,000

17,198

(1,859)
(1,246)
(12,501)
(611)

(1,257)
(15,353)
(799)

(16,217)

(17,409)

(1,217)

(211)

(312)
(7,198)
(27,580)

(414)
(9,419)
(19,222)

Long Term Liabilities

(35,090)

(29,055)

Net Liabilities

(24,713)

(16,574)

680
(25,393)

680
(17,254)

(24,713)

(16,574)

Property, Plant & Equipment
Assets Under Construction

17

Non-Current Assets
Inventories
Short Term Debtors
Cash and Cash Equivalents

21
22
23

Current Assets
Bank Overdraft
Short Term Borrowing
Short Term Creditors
Short Term Provisions

23
24
25
26

Current Liabilities

Net Current Liabilities
Long Term Provisions
Long Term Borrowing
Other Long Term Liabilities

Usable Reserves
Unusable Reserves

26
24
34

Page 24
Page 24

Total Reserves

The notes on pages 28 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Robert Emmott BSc, CPFA
Proper Officer

The unaudited annual accounts were issued on 24 June 2021 and the audited accounts were
authorised for issue on 30 August 2021.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT 31 MARCH

Net Deficit on the Provision of Services
Adjustments to surplus on the provision of services
for non-cash movements

Note

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Page 26

(6,652)

(7,151)

9,411

13,613

215

155

2,974

6,617

29(a)

Adjustment for items included in the net surplus on
the provision of services that are investing and
financing activities

29(a)

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities

29(b)

(3,447)

(2,982)

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities

29(c)

(32)

(838)

(505)

2,797

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of
the reporting period

(1,385)

(1,854)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the
reporting period

(1,890)

943

5

5

(1,859)

945

(1,854)

950

Net increase/ (decrease) in Cash and Cash
Equivalents

Cash Balances
Bank Balance (Overdraft)
23

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The notes on pages 28 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Statement of Accounting Policies

General Principles
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Joint Committee’s transactions for the 2020/21 financial
year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2021. The Joint Committee is required to prepare
an annual Statement of Accounts by the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, which
section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 require to be prepared in accordance with
proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 supported by International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the 2003 Act. The Statements
have been prepared in accordance with the fundamental accounting principles of relevance, reliability,
comparability, understandability, materiality, accruals, going concern and primacy of legislative
requirements. The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally
historical cost.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Accruals of Income and Expenditure
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or
received. In particular:
•
•

•
•
•
•

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Joint Committee transfers the
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic
benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Joint Committee.
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Joint Committee can
measure reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that
economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Joint
Committee.
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap
between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as
inventories on the Balance Sheet.
Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are
made.
Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively
as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial
instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.
Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to
revenue for the income that might not be collected.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in less than three
months from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown inclusive of bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Joint Committee’s cash management.

28

40
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Exceptional Items
When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately,
either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the
accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the Joint Committee’s
financial performance.
Prior Period Errors
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, ie in the current and
future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events
and conditions on the Joint Committee’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change
is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and
comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the depreciation attributable to the
assets used by the relevant service to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year.
The Joint Committee is not required to fund depreciation and impairment losses through its revenue
streams. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction
in its overall borrowing requirement equal to loans fund principal charges. Depreciation and
impairment losses are therefore replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance for loans
fund principal, by way of an adjusting transaction within the Capital Adjustment Account and in the
Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two amounts.
Employee Benefits
Benefits Payable during Employment
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end. They
include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave and non-monetary
benefits for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which
employees render service to the Joint Committee. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday
entitlements (or any form of leave eg time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the
year end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the
wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period in which the
employee takes the benefit. The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services,
but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are
charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.
Termination and Post Employment Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Joint Committee to
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept
voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement when the Joint Committee is demonstrably committed to the termination of the
employment of an officer or group of officers or making an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy.
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Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the
General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Joint Committee to the pension
fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting
standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the
Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination
benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any
such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.
The Local Government Pension Scheme
The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme
•

•

•

The liabilities of the Tayside Pension Fund attributable to the Joint Committee are included in the
Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – ie an assessment of the
future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees,
based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of
projected earnings for current employees.
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, (the discount rate being the annualised
yield at the 19 year point on the Merrill Lynch AA rated corporate bond curve which has been
chosen to meet the requirements of IAS19 and with consideration of the duration of the
Employer’s liabilities).
The assets of the Tayside Pension Fund attributable to the Joint Committee are included in the
Balance Sheet at their fair value:
o quoted securities – current bid price
o unquoted securities – professional estimate
o unitised securities – current bid price
o property – market value.

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged
with the amount payable by the Joint Committee to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the
year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in
Reserves Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to
remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the
cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year
end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial
impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash
flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.
Discretionary Benefits
The Joint Committee also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits
in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any
member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using
the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the balance sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised
for issue. Two types of events can be identified:
•
•

those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events
those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a
material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated
financial effect.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of
Accounts.
Inventories and Long Term Contracts
Construction and vehicle maintenance inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of
average cost and net realisable value. Catering stock has been included at replacement value from
suppliers’ list prices (this value is not significantly different from original cost).
Work in progress is measured at the cost of work not invoiced at 31 March.
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return
for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on
the use of specific assets. Tayside Contracts has no arrangements of this nature of significant value
in place.
Finance Leases
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value of
the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the
obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Joint Committee are added to the carrying
amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease
liability.
Lease payments are apportioned between:
•

a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to
write down the lease liability, and

•

a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies
applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is
shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the
Joint Committee at the end of the lease period).
Operating Leases
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or
equipment. Charges are made on a straight line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not
match the pattern of payments.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during
more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.
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Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Joint Committee and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver
future economic benefits or service potential (ie repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense
when it is incurred.
Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:
•
•

the purchase price
any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

The Joint Committee does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under
construction.
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its current value, unless the
acquisition does not have commercial substance (ie it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows of
the Joint Committee). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the
acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Joint Committee.
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an
asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value. Where nonproperty assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is
used as a proxy for current value.
Impairment
Assets are assessed as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where
indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment
loss is recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by the carrying amount of the asset
being written down against the relevant Division in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant Division in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss,
adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised, with
corresponding entries made as appropriate to the Capital Adjustment Account.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a
determinable finite useful life (ie freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (ie assets
under construction).
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Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:
•

buildings – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property. Buildings at Collace
Quarry are depreciated over the remaining economic life of the quarry as estimated at the
date of acquisition or construction of the building.

•

vehicles, plant and equipment – straight line allocation over the useful life of each class of
assets, ranging from 2 to 20 years, typically between 5 to 10 years.

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.
Disposals
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance
Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the
gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (ie
netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).
The balance of receipts is required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve and can then only
be used for new capital investment.
Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in
Reserves Statement.
The written off value of disposals is not a charge against the General Fund, as the cost of fixed assets
is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to
the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves
Statement.
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Joint Committee a legal or
constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service
potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, the Joint
Committee may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement
or the payment of compensation.
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate Division in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement in the year that the Joint Committee becomes aware of the obligation, and are
measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.
Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than
anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service.
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from
another party (eg from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service
if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the Joint Committee settles the obligation.
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Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Joint Committee a possible
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Joint Committee.
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but
either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required, or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured reliably.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts.
Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Joint Committee a possible
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Joint Committee. Contingent assets are not recognised in
the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an
inflow of economic benefits or service potential.
Reserves
Reserves are split between Usable and Unusable reserves in the Balance Sheet. Usable Reserves
represent funds available to the Joint Committee. Unusable Reserves are kept in order to manage
accounting processes for non-current assets, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent
usable resources for the Joint Committee.
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but that does
not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the relevant
service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the Joint
Committee has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by
borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the
Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the
level of revenue expenditure.
VAT
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s
Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.
Borrowing
Borrowing represents the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) on loans arranged
with Dundee City Council to finance capital expenditure. Interest is charged annually to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in accordance with loan agreements. Loan terms
are arranged to match the useful lives of assets financed.
Treatment of Surpluses/Deficits
An element of profit is included in each tender where possible and any profit made at the end of the
year is used to fund capital expenditure (CFCR), transferred to the constituent Councils at an agreed
amount and any remaining surplus transferred into reserves.
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Any shortfall in surplus against the agreed distribution to the constituent Councils is met from
reserves. In the event of a deficit arising, it would be met first from any available reserves and
secondly by a contribution from each constituent Council.
Going Concern
The Joint Committee’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2021 shows a Net Liability of £16,574k
(2019/20: £24,713k). The significant factor in this is the IAS 19 Pension Liability of £19,222k
(2019/20: £27,580k), which is based on a “snapshot” at 31 March 2021 and is particularly sensitive to
the vagaries of the equities market and the discount rate applied to determine the present value of
future liabilities. The IAS 19 Pension Liability is a notional figure and does not require to be funded.
Any projected liability on the Tayside Pension Fund is currently recouped by increased employer’s
contributions. The IAS 19 Pension Liability does not impact on the Joint Committee’s General Fund
or budget requirements and does not affect the Joint Committee’s ability to continue trading as a
going concern.
2.

Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet been adopted

IFRS 16, Leases has been issued and it is estimated to have an immaterial impact on Tayside
Contracts’ financial statements, from 2021/22.
3.

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Joint Committee has to make certain
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. There
were no critical judgements made in preparing the Statement of Accounts.
4.

Assumptions that have been made about the future

Pensions
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to
the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement
ages, mortality rates and expected return on pension fund assets. A firm of actuaries is engaged by
the pension fund administrators to provide the Joint Committee with expert advice regarding the
assumptions to be applied.
Please refer to Note 34 for a sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial assumption made.
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The CIES and Funding Analysis are reported on the basis of how our services (Construction and
Facilities) are structured and how they operate, monitor and manage financial performance.
5.

Expenditure and Funding Analysis
Net income/
(expenditure)
chargeable to
the General
Fund

Adjustments
between
Funding and
Accounting
basis
(see Note 14)

Net income/
(expenditure) in
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement

£’000

£’000

£’000

Construction Division
Facilities Services Division

1,178
686

2,439
3,739

(1,261)
(3,053)

Surplus/(deficit) on Continuing Operations

1,864

6,178

(4,314)

(140)

140

614

(955)
(1,523)

6,652

(6,652)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Other Operating Income
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure
Contributions to constituent Councils

(341)
(1,523)

Surplus/(deficit) on Provision of Services

-

Increase in General Fund
General Fund balance as at 1 April 2019
680
General Fund balance as at 31 March 2020

680

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Construction Division
Facilities Services Division

2,397
(115)

2,589
3,924

(192)
(4,039)

Surplus/(deficit) on Continuing Operations

2,282

6,513

(4,231)

Other Operating Income
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure
Contributions to constituent Councils

(289)

(134)
772

134
(1,061)

Surplus/(deficit) on Provision of Services

-

(1,993)

(1,993)
7,151

Increase in General Fund
General Fund balance as at 1 April 2020

680

General Fund balance as at 31 March 2021

680
680
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6.

Construction Division Statutory Trading Account

2018/19
£'000

2019/20
£'000

3 Year
Total
£'000

2020/21
£'000
Income

40,663
1,635

40,537
1,446

42,298

41,983

Charges to Constituent Councils
Other Income

39,103
1,691

120,303
4,772

40,794

125,075

Expenditure
11,779

11,926

Direct Labour

12,109

35,814

13,810
3,412
2,244
10,204
1,980
448
258

12,787
3,391
2,419
10,421
2,018
438
256

Direct Purchases
Sub-contractors
Transport and Plant Hire
Overheads
Depreciation
Depot Rental Charges
Interest Payable

10,168
4,216
2,289
9,829
1,957
464
260

36,765
11,019
6,952
30,454
5,955
1,350
773

44,135

43,656

41,292

129,082

(497)

(4,007)

(1,837)

Net Deficit including IAS 19
Adjustments

(1,673)

The financial objective set by the Local Government in Scotland Act (2003) determines that each
Statutory Trading Account must break even over a rolling three year period. This objective is measured
after adjusting for IAS 19 pension costs. However, due to the notional nature of IAS 19 adjustments, the
significant impact they have on the trading surplus and the fact that they are wholly outwith the control of
Tayside Contracts, trading surpluses/(deficits) have been disclosed above both inclusive of and
excluding IAS 19 adjustments. Over the three year period 2018/19 to 2020/21 the financial objective for
the Construction Division has not been achieved, with a deficit of £4,008k after applying IAS 19
adjustments. However, the measure of the operational trading performance is the three year surplus of
£2,330k excluding IAS 19 adjustments as shown below.

(1,837)

(1,673)

1,706

2,027

544

10

2,250

2,037

Net Deficit including IAS 19
Adjustments as above

(497)

(4,007)

1,846

5,579

204

758

2,050

6,337

1,552

2,330

IAS 19 Adjustments included above

413

364

Current Service Cost
Past Service Cost

Trading Account Surplus before IAS
19 Adjustments
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Notes 9 and 10 provide reconciliations of the Statutory Trading Account to the Comprehensive Income &
Expenditure Statement and the movement in General Fund balance respectively.

7.

Facilities Services Division Statutory Trading Account

2018/19
£'000

2019/20
£'000

2020/21
£'000

3 Year
Total
£'000

Income
31,610
1,962

31,484
2,183

33,572

33,667

25,080
5,268
6,193
49
28
-

26,193
5,103
5,379
45
28
-

36,618

36,748

(3,046)

(3,081)

Charges to Constituent Councils
Other Income

Expenditure
Direct Labour
Direct Purchases
Overheads
Depreciation
Depot Rental Charges
Interest Payable

Net Deficit including IAS 19
Adjustments

29,582
3,441

92,676
7,586

33,023

100,262

27,426
2,980
6,572
85
30
41

78,735
13,351
18,144
179
86
41

37,133

110,500

(4,110)

(10,238)

The financial objective set by the Local Government in Scotland Act (2003) determines that each
Statutory Trading Account must break even over a rolling three year period. This objective is measured
after adjusting for IAS 19 pension costs. However, due to the notional nature of IAS 19 adjustments, the
significant impact they have on the trading surplus and the fact that they are wholly outwith the control of
Tayside Contracts, trading surpluses/(deficits) have been disclosed above both inclusive of and
excluding IAS 19 adjustments. Over the three year period 2018/19 to 2020/21 the financial objective for
the Facilities Services Division has not been achieved, with a deficit of £10,238k including IAS 19
adjustments. However, the measure of the operational trading performance is the three year surplus of
£1,552k excluding IAS 19 adjustments as shown below.

(3,046)

(3,081)

Net Deficit including IAS 19
Adjustments

(4,110)

(10,238)

3,709

10,402

401

1,388

4,110

11,790

IAS 19 Adjustments included above
2,991

3,702

969

18

3,960

3,720

914

639

Current Service Cost
Past Service Cost

Trading Account Surplus before IAS 19
Adjustments

-

1,552

Notes 9 and 10 provide reconciliations of the Statutory Trading Account to the Comprehensive Income &
Expenditure Statement and the movement in the General Fund balance respectively.
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8.

Trading Operations

Financial Objectives are measured over a three year period under the Local Government in Scotland
Act (2003), with each Statutory Trading Account required to break even over that period. Neither the
Facilities Services Statutory Trading Account nor the Construction Division have met this objective for
the three years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21, due to the volatile effect of IAS19. However, the
underlying trading performance, excluding the distortions arising from the volatility of the pension
fund, remains solid with three year totals of £2,330k for Construction and £1,552k for Facilities.

9.

Reconciliation of Statutory Trading Accounts to the Comprehensive Income &
Expenditure Statement

The accounting treatment of certain items of income and expenditure differs between the Statutory
Trading Accounts and the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. In particular, internal
trading requires to be eliminated and interest charges are identified separately in the Comprehensive
Income & Expenditure Statement. A reconciliation between the two accounting statements is provided
in the table below.

Expenditure
£’000
Construction Division
Total per Statutory Trading Account (Note 6)
Adjustments:
Difference between notional and actual depot costs
Interest Charges
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement
Facilities Services
Total per Statutory Trading Account (Note 7)
Adjustments:
Difference between notional and actual depot costs
Interest Charges
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement

10.

(41,292)

Income
£’000
40,794

57
249

Net
Income/
(Expenditure)
£’000
(497)
57
249

(40,986)

40,794

(192)

(37,133)

33,023

(4,110)

30
41
(37,062)

30
41
33,023

(4,039)

Reconciliation of Statutory Trading Accounts to Movement in the General Fund
Balance

Further to the reconciliation in Note 9 above, a number of accounting adjustments are required by the
Code to produce the Movement in Reserves Statement. The table below provides reconciliation
between the surplus/(deficit) reported in the Trading Accounts and the increase in the General Fund
balance, with an analysis between the Construction and Facilities Divisions.
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2018/19
2019/20
Trading Accounts
Construction Facilities
£’000
£’000

11.

Total
£’000

(1,673)

(3,081)

(4,754)

2,017

45

2,062

71

28

99

2,281

4,090

6,371

(220)

(394)

(614)

(1,184)
(515)

2020/21
Trading Accounts
Construction Facilities Total
£’000
£’000
£’000

(1,184)
(515)

60

(2)

58

(813)

(710)

(1,523)

24

(24)

0

Deficit per Trading
Accounts

(497)

(4,110)

(4,607)

Depreciation &
Impairment
Difference between
notional and actual
depot costs
Difference between IAS
19 and actual pension
costs
IAS 19 pension interest
cost and expected
return
Repayment of debt
CFCR
Other Adjustments
Employee Statutory
Adjustments
Contribution to
constituent Councils

1,957

85

2,042

57

30

87

2,481

4,451

6,932

(276)

(496)

(772)

(1,210)
(589)

(48)

(1,258)
(589)

225

(67)

158

(1,993)

-

(1,993)

(155)

0

Increase in General
Fund Balance

155

Net Liability

The Joint Committee’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2021 shows a Net Liability of £16,574k
(2019/20: £24,713k). The significant factor in this is the IAS 19 Pension Liability of £19,222k
(2019/20: £27,580k), which is based on a “snapshot” at 31 March 2021 and is particularly sensitive to
the vagaries of the equities market and other investment returns, the discount rate applied to
determine the present value of future liabilities and assumptions regarding future inflation and
mortality rates. The IAS 19 Pension Liability is a notional figure and does not require to be funded.
Any projected liability on the Tayside Pension Fund is currently addressed by increased employer’s
contributions. The IAS 19 Pension Liability does not impact on the Joint Committee’s General Fund
or budget requirements and does not affect the Joint Committee’s ability to continue trading as a
going concern. All of Tayside Contracts net liabilities relate to trading undertakings.
12.

Contributions to the Constituent Councils

For the financial year ending 31 March 2021, the constituent Councils agreed that the total amount to
be distributed was £884k. However, as a consequence of the continued strong financial performance
achieved for the year, an increased amount of £1,993k will be distributed to the constituent Councils
(2020/21: £1,523k). This amount has been apportioned to the three constituent Councils in
accordance with the percentage split method agreed by the Joint Committee on 30 August 2021.
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13.

Events After the Balance Sheet Date

There were no events that occurred between 1 April 2021 and 30 August 2021 that would have an
impact on the 2020/21 financial statements. The later date was the date the audited financial
statements were authorised for issue by the Joint Committee.
14.

Adjustments between the Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations

Adjustments involving the Capital Adjustment Account
Reversal of items debited or credited to the CIES
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current assets
Capital expenditure funded from revenue
Carrying amount of non current assets sold
Loans/Lease principal repayments during the year
Reduction in liability on expiry of finance leases
Insertion of items not debited or credited to the CIES
Other Adjustments
Adjustments involving the Capital Receipts Reserve
Proceeds from Sale of Non-Current Assets
Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to
the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement (see Note 34)
Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners
payable in the year (see Note 34)
Adjustment involving the Employee Statutory Adjustments
Account
Adjustments in relation to Employee Statutory Adjustments
Total Adjustments
15.

2020/21
£'000

2,062
(515)
(14)
(1,184)

2,042
(589)
(1,257)

(126)

(134)

11,199

12,141

(4,828)

(5,209)

59

157

6,653

7,151

2019/20
£’000
126
14
-

2020/21
£’000
134
-

140

134

2019/20
£’000
(97)
(244)
(341)

2020/21
£’000
12
(301)
(289)

4,413
(5,027)
(614)

3,916
(4,688)
(772)

(955)

(1,061)

Other Operating Income

Net Proceeds from sale of Non-Current Assets
Carrying amount of Non-Current Assets Sold
Reduction in liability on expiry of finance leases
Gains on Sale of Non-Current Assets
16.

2019/20
£'000

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

Interest payable and similar charges
Bank Interest
Loan Interest
Pensions interest cost and expected return on pensions assets
Expected return on assets/Net Interest on defined liabilities
Interest cost

Total Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
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17.

Property Plant and Equipment

17 (a)

Comparative Year
Assets
Under
Construction

Buildings
£’000

Vehicles,
Plant &
Equipment
(owned)
£’000

69

377

22,847

-

23,293

-

-

2,407
(1,489)

1,152
-

3,559
(1,489)

69

377

23,765

1,152

25,363

Depreciation and Impairment
Balance as at 1 April 2019

-

294

12,879

-

13,173

Depreciation Charge
De-recognition – Disposals

-

19
-

2,043
(1,466)

-

2,062
(1,466)

At 31 March 2019

-

313

13,456

-

13,769

Net Book Value
Balance as at 31 March 2020

69

64

10,309

1,152

11,594

Balance as at 31 March 2019

69

83

9,968

-

10,120

Assets
Under
Construction

Buildings
£’000

Vehicles,
Plant &
Equipment
(owned)
£’000

Total
Property,
Plant &
Equipment
£’000

377

23,765

1,152

25,363

3,144
32
(1,295)

(1,152)

-

1,120
-

3,144
-

69

1,497

25,646

-

27,212

Depreciation and Impairment
Balance as at 1 April 2020

-

313

13,456

-

13,769

Depreciation Charge
De-recognition – Disposals

-

37
-

2,005
(1,291)

-

2,042
(1,291)

At 31 March 2021

-

350

14,170

-

12,692

Net Book Value
Balance as at 31 March 2021

69

1,147

11,476

-

14,520

Balance as at 31 March 2020

69

64

10,309

1,152

11,594

Land
£’000
Cost or Valuation
Balance as at 1 April 2019
Additions
De-recognition – Disposals
At 31 March 2019

£’000

Total
Property,
Plant &
Equipment
£’000

17 (b) Current Year

Land
£’000
Cost or Valuation
Balance as at 1 April 2020
Additions
Transfer Asset Under Cons
De-recognition – Disposals
At 31 March 2021

69
-

42

£’000
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In accordance with the stated accounting policy, owned assets are depreciated over their estimated
useful life. The useful life assigned to the various types of plant, vehicles and equipment ranges from
2 to 20 years. Quarry buildings are depreciated over the estimated remaining economic life of the
quarry at the date of acquisition, and a range of 10 to 16 years has been applied. Computer
equipment (large value servers) is depreciated over 5 years. Assets acquired under finance leases
are depreciated over the life of the lease taking into account any residual value at the end of the lease
period.
18.

Capital Expenditure – Sources of Finance

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, together with
the resources that have been used to finance it.

Capital Receipts
Capital Funded from Current Revenue
Loans
Other

19.

2019/20
£’000
126
515
2,918
-

2020/21
£’000
134
589
2,232
189

3,559

3,144

Capital Commitments

At 31 March 2021 there were commitments of £0k in respect of vehicles, plant and equipment ordered
but not received at that date (2019/20: £0k).
20.

Financial Instruments

With the exception of debtors, creditors and borrowings to fund capital expenditure, analyses of which
are provided in notes 22, 25 and 24 respectively, Tayside Contracts does not have any financial
instruments that are required to be re-measured and disclosed under International Accounting
Standards 39 and 32 and International Financial Reporting Standard 7.
21.

Inventories

In undertaking its work, the Joint Committee holds reserves of stock together with amounts of
uncompleted work (work in progress). The figure shown in the balance sheet may be subdivided as
follows:

Work in Progress
Stock

22.

2019/20
£’000
45
1,881

2020/21
£’000
38
1,947

1,926

1,984

2019/20
£’000
11,883
1,263
(77)

2020/21
£’000
12,870
1,404
(10)

13,069

14,264

Debtors

Short Term Debtors

Constituent Councils
Trade Debtors
Impairment of Debtors
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23.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Bank Balances
Bank Balance (Overdraft)

24.

2019/20
£’000
5
(1,859)

2020/21
£’000
5
945

(1,854)

950

Short and Long Term Borrowing

During 2020/21, loans amounting to £2,232 (2019/20: £2,918k) were arranged with Dundee City
Council to finance capital expenditure. The net future obligation in respect of these loans, together
with loans arranged in previous years, as at 31 March is:

Due in 1 year
Due in 2 – 5 years
Due in more than 5 years

25.

2020/21
£’000
1,257
6,110
3,309

8,445

10,676

2019/20
£’000
4,582
592
917
6,410

2020/21
£’000
4,840
829
1,074
8,610

12,501

15,353

Creditors

Short Term Creditors
Constituent Councils
Accrued Salaries and Wages
Accumulated Absences
Trade Creditors
Total Creditors

26.

2019/20
£’000
1,246
4,986
2,213

Provisions

A provision has been created in respect of completed contracts for which costs associated with
remedial works are expected to arise in future years. The provisional sum represents the estimated
value of irrecoverable costs which include outstanding claims, remedial and maintenance expenses.
Provision is also made for the future reinstatement of the two quarries operated by Tayside Contracts
and remedial costs at the Bolshan landfill quarry site as determined by SEPA. Other provisions relate
to the removal and disposal of Whin dust at the quarry, ongoing legal disputes, obsolete or ageing
stock items, restructuring and allowing for insurance claims and claims in respect of overtime
adjustments to holiday payments.
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Prior Year

Remedial Works
Quarry Reinstatement Costs
Bolshan Quarry Reinstatement
Disposal of Whin dust
Restructuring
Insurance claims
Other

Short Term Provisions
Long Term Provisions

Current Year

Remedial Works
Quarry Reinstatement Costs
Bolshan Quarry Reinstatement
Disposal of Whin dust
Restructuring
Insurance claims
Other

Short Term Provisions
Long Term Provisions

Balance
as at 1
April
2019
£’000

Increase
During
Year
£’000

Utilised
During
Year
£’000

Unused
Amounts
Reversed
£’000

Interest
Earned
£’000

Balance
as at 31
March
2020
£’000

491
190
108
10
42
142
191

289
3
40
-

(208)
(43)
(35)

(283)
(14)
-

-

289
193
108
10
42
125
156

1,174

332

(286)

(297)

-

923

865
309

-

-

-

-

612
311

1,174

332

(286)

(297)

-

923

Balance
as at 1
April
2020
£’000

Increase
During
Year
£’000

Utilised
During
Year
£’000

Unused
Amounts
Reversed
£’000

Interest
Earned
£’000

Balance
as at 31
March
2021
£’000

289
193
108
10
42
125
156

447
103
93
40

(26)
(59)
-

(263)
(45)
-

-

447
296
108
10
42
114
196

923

683

(85)

(308)

-

1,213

611
312
923

683

(85)

(308)

-

799
414
1,213

Long term provisions relate to quarry reinstatement costs, Bolshan quarry reinstatement and the
disposal of whin dust.
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27.

Usable Reserves

Capital Receipts Reserve
These are cash receipts from the sale of the Joint Committee’s assets, which have been applied to
finance capital expenditure.
2019/20
2020/21
£’000
£’000
Opening Balance as at 1 April
Capital Receipts in the year
126
134
Capital Receipts used to finance capital expenditure
(126)
(134)
Closing Balance as at 31 March

28.

-

-

2019/20
£’000
3,104
(27,580)
(917)

2020/21
£’000
3,042
(19,222)
(1,074)

(25,393)

(17,254)

Unusable Reserves

Capital Adjustment Account
Pensions Reserve
Accumulating Compensated Absences Account

Capital Adjustment Account
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different accounting
arrangement in respect of consumption of non-current assets and the financing of the acquisition,
construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The account is debited with
the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and
amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The account is
credited with the amounts set aside by the Joint Committee as finance for the costs of acquisition,
construction and enhancement.

Opening Balance as at 1 April
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Depreciation and impairment of non-current assets
Capital expenditure funded from revenue
Non-current assets written off on disposal or sale

Capital financing applied in the year
Capital receipts applied to finance capital expenditure
Loan and Lease principal repayments
Reduction in liability on expiry of finance leases

Closing Balance as at 31 March

2019/20
£’000
3,327

2020/21
£’000
3,104

(2,062)
515
14
(1,533)

(2,042)
589
(1,453)

126
1,184
1,310

134
1,257
1,391

3,104

3,042

Pensions Reserve
The Joint Committee accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating
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the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any
resources set aside to meet the costs.
However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Joint Committee
makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or pays any pensions for which it is directly
responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in
the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources set aside to meet them. The
statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come
to be paid. There is an equal and opposite liability for this amount in the Balance Sheet.

Opening Balance as at 1 April
Actuarial gains/(losses) on pensions assets and liabilities
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to
the surplus on the provision of service in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure (see Note 34)

2019/20
£’000
(25,395)
4,186

2020/21
£’000
(27,580)
15,290

(6,371)

(6,932)

(27,580)

(19,222)

Employee Statutory Adjustments Account
The Employee Statutory Adjustments Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on
the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year,
eg annual leave entitlement outstanding at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact
on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account.

Opening Balance as at 1 April
Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the preceding
year
Amounts accrued at the end of the current year
Closing Balance as at 31 March

29.

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

29(a)

Analysis of Adjustments to the Surplus on Provision of Services

Depreciation
Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories
(Increase)/Decrease in Debtors
Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors
Net charge to Pension Fund
Contribution to/(from) other Reserves/Provisions
Contribution to constituent Councils

Adjustment for items that are investing and financing activities
Interest Paid
Interest element of finance lease payments
Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets
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2019/20
£’000
(858)

2020/21
£’000
(917)

858
(917)

917
(1,074)

(917)

(1,074)

2019/20
£’000
2,062
377
9
(680)
6,371
(251)
1,523

2020/20
£’000
2,042
(58)
(1,194)
2,382
6,932
290
3,220

9,411

13,614

341
(126)

289
(134)

215

155
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29(b)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Carrying amount of non-current assets sold
Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets

29(c)

2020/21
£’000
(3,117)
134

(3,447)

(2,983)

2019/20
£’000
2,918
(1,184)
(1,425)
(341)

2020/21
£’000
2,231
(1,257)
(1,523)
(289)

(32)

(838)

Cash Flows from Financing

Cash receipts from short and long term borrowing
Finance lease principal cash repayments
Short and long term borrowing cash repayments
Surpluses paid to constituent Councils
Other payments for Financing Activities

30.

2019/20
£’000
(3,559)
(14)
126

Members’ Allowances

The Joint Committee does not make payment to members in the form of salaries and allowances.
The only costs relating to members incurred by the Joint Committee are those associated with
attendance at relevant conferences and seminars.
2019/20
£’000
3
-

Conferences and Seminars
Travel and Subsistence

3
31.

2020/21
£’000
-

-

External Audit Fees

The external auditors of Tayside Contracts Joint Committee are appointed by the Accounts
Commission for Scotland, for a period of 5 years.
The total fee payable to Audit Scotland in respect of the 2020/21 financial year, for external audit
services undertaken in accordance with the Code of Practice, is £39k (2019/20: £39k). During
2019/20 the external auditor did not provide any other services to the Joint Committee other than the
duties undertaken in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.
32.

Related Parties

The Joint Committee is required to disclose material transactions with related parties bodies that have
the potential to control or influence Tayside Contracts. By the very nature of Joint Committee
structure and operations, the three constituent Councils would be considered related parties. Work
carried out for the constituent Councils during the financial year was valued as follows:

Angus Council
Dundee City Council
Perth and Kinross Council
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2019/20
£’000
19,884
21,443
30,347

2020/21
£’000
21,008
21,112
28,236

71,674

70,357
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Charges were made by the constituent Councils for services provided to the Joint Committee,
including historical loans fund charges for the use of depots, as follows (note that these figures
exclude prudential loan principal and interest repayments):

Angus Council
Dundee City Council
Perth and Kinross Council

2019/20
£’000
177
51
139

2020/21
£’000
192
526
352

367

1,070

The following repayments of surpluses due to the constituent Councils, including interest accrued on
outstanding balances, were made by Tayside Contracts:

Angus Council
Dundee City Council
Perth and Kinross Council

2019/20
£’000
459
443
523

2020/21
£’000
554
596
843

1,425

1,993

Loan repayments to Dundee City Council in respect of sums borrowed to fund capital expenditure,
including interest and loans fund expenses, are included in the accounts amounting to £1,257k in
2020/21 (2019/20: £1,184k).
Included in the Balance Sheet are a number of balances relating to amounts due from and to the
constituent Councils. These are summarised as follows:
2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Debtors
Operational Activities

11,883

12,363

Creditors
Trade and Sundry Creditors
Surpluses due to constituent Councils

(3,059)
(1,523)

(2,340)
(1,993)

(4,582)

(4,333)

Also included in the Balance Sheet are balances outstanding on loans from Dundee City Council as
disclosed in Note 24.
33.

Leases

No finance leases were held at 31 March 2021 (or 31 March 2020).
34.

Defined Benefits Pension Scheme

Participation in the Local Government Pension Scheme
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the Joint Committee offers
retirement benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the
Joint Committee has a commitment to make the payments that need to be disclosed at the time that
employees earn their future entitlement.
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The Joint Committee participates in the Tayside Pension Fund, administered by Dundee City Council.
This is a funded scheme, meaning that the Joint Committee and employees pay contributions into a
fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension funds liabilities with investment assets.
Transactions Relating to Retirement Benefits – CIES Charges
The Joint Committee recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the Cost of Services on Continuing
Operations when they are earned by employees rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as
pensions.
However, the charge the Joint Committee is required to make is based on the cash payable in the
year, and the real cost of retirement is reversed out in the adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations line, in the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year.
For Accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2019, the method of calculation applied by
Actuaries for events which trigger a past service cost or settlement has changed. This change has
been applied to the figures below.
2019/20
£’000
10,585

Service cost
Net Operating Expenditure
Net Interest Expenditure
Net charge to the CIES

614

772

11,199

12,141

2019/20
£’000
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis
under regulations
Reversal of charges made for retirement benefits in accordance with
IAS 19
Employer’s contributions payable to the scheme
Net Charge to the General Fund Summary

2020/21
£’000
11,369

2020/21
£’000

(11,199)
4,828

(12,141)
5,209

(6,371)

(6,932)

In addition to the recognised gains and losses included in the CIES, actuarial gain of £15,290k
(2019/20 - £4,186k) were included in other comprehensive income and expenditure in the CIES. The
five year cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income
and expenditure is a gain of £43,118k.
Assets and Liabilities in Relation to Retirement Benefits
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into various components:
•
•
•

current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year –
allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the
employees worked
past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect
relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
net interest – the net defined benefit liability (asset) multiplied by the discount rate - debited to the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement
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•

•

•
•

expected return on assets – the annual investment return on the fund assets attributable to the
Joint Committee, based on an average of the expected long-term return – credited to the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement
gains or losses on settlements and curtailments – the result of actions to relieve the Joint
Committee of liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or accrual of benefits of
employees – debited or credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
remeasurement gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events
have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries
have updated their assumptions – debited to the Pensions Reserve
contributions paid to the Tayside Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the
pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.

Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities

Balance as at 1 April
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by members
Remeasurement losses/ (gains): change in financial assumptions
Remeasurement losses/ (gains): change in demographic assumptions
Remeasurement losses/ (gains): experience losses/(gains)
Liabilities assumed / (extinguished) on settlements
Past service costs including curtailments
Estimated unfunded benefits paid
Estimated benefits paid

2019/20
£’000
209,065
10,557
4,965
1,608
(18,576)
28
(143)
(5,905)

2020/21
£’000
201,599
10,764
4,624
1,716
52,965
(5,674)
4,302
605
(151)
(6,867)

Balance as at 31 March

201,599

263,883

Balance as at 1 April
Interest income
Contributions by members
Contributions by employer
Actuarial gains
Administration Expenses
Settlement prices received / (paid)
Benefits paid

2019/20
£’000
183,670
(9,977)
1,608
4,828
(62)
(6,048))

2020/21
£’000
174,019
56,825
1,716
5,209
13,974
(64)
(7,018)

Balance as at 31 March

174,019

244,661

Reconciliation of present value of the scheme assets

The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns available
on the assets underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments
are based on gross redemption yields as at the Balance Sheet date. Expected returns on equity
investments reflect long term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets.
The actual return on scheme assets in the year showed a positive return of £70,642k
(2019/20: £9,977k).
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Fair Value of Plan Assets

Equity Investments
Gilts
Bonds
Property
Cash
Alternatives

2019/20
£’000
115,051
2,414
30,748
21,404
5,263
(861)

2020/21
£’000
175,188
9,674
31,934
22,362
5,154
349

174,019

244,661

The above asset values are at bid value as required by IAS 19.

Scheme History - Analysis of scheme assets and liabilities
2016/17
£’000
Fair value of assets in pension
scheme
Present value of defined benefit
obligation
Net scheme liabilities

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

157,819

175,272

183,670

174,019

244,661

(209,441)

(194,388)

(209,065)

(201,599)

(263,883)

(51,622)

(19,116)

(25,395)

(27,580)

(19,222)

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income and expenditure
2016/17
£’000
Actuarial gains/(losses)
Cumulative actuarial gains and
losses

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

(15,873)

39,076

439

4,186

15,290

1,265

40,341

40,780

44,966

60,256

24,730

12,611

3,735

(14,390)

52,909

(40,603)

26,465

(3,296)

18,576

57,267

History of experience gains and
losses
Experience gains/(losses) on assets
Experience (losses)/gains on
liabilities

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the Joint Committee has in the long run to pay
retirement benefits. The net liability of £19,222k has a substantial impact on the net worth of the Joi
+nt Committee as recorded in the Balance Sheet, resulting in a corporate net liability of £16,574k.
However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the Joint
Committee remains healthy. The net deficit of £19,222k on the Pension Fund will be made good by
increased contributions over the remaining working life of employees, as assessed by the scheme
actuary.
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Analysis of projected amount to be charged to CIES for the year to 31 March 2022

2020/21
£’000
13,699
333
90

Service cost
Net Interest on obligation
Administration expenses

14,122
Total loss
The total contributions expected to be made to the Tayside Pension Fund by the Joint Committee in
the year to 31 March 2022 is £5,048k.
Basis for estimating assets and liabilities
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of
the pensions that will be payable in the future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates,
salary levels, etc.
The pension fund liabilities have been assessed by an independent firm of actuaries, estimates being
based on data pertaining to the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2020.
Mortality assumptions
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners
Men
Women
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners
Men
Women
Inflation / Pension increase rate
Salary increase rate
Discount rate

2019/20

2020/21

19.7 yrs
21.7 yrs

18.9 yrs
22.2 yrs

21.4 yrs
23.5 yrs

20.2 yrs
23.8 yrs

1.90 %
2.90 %
2.35 %

2.80%
3.80%
2.00%

Major categories of plan assets as percentage of total plan assets
The Tayside Pension Fund’s assets consist of the following categories, by proportion of the total
assets held:
2018/19
Equity Investments
Gilts
Other bonds
Property
Cash
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2019/20

2020/21

70%
1%
15%
12%
2%

66%
1%
18%
12%
3%

72%
4%
13%
9%
2%

100%

100%

100%
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Sensitivity Analysis

Adjustment to discount rate
• Present value of total obligation
• Projected service cost

£’000
+0.1%
259,100
13,305

£’000
0.0%
263,883
13,699

£’000
-0.1%
268,759
14,103

Adjustment to long term salary increase
• Present value of total obligation
• Projected service cost

+0.1%
264,482
13,706

0.0%
263,883
13,699

-0.1%
263,287
13,692

Adjustment to pension increases and deferred revaluation
• Present value of total obligation
• Projected service cost

+0.1%
268,117
14,099

0.0%
263,883
13,699

-0.1%
259,728
13,309

Adjustment to life expectancy assumptions
• Present value of total obligation
• Projected service cost

+1 year
276,881
14,352

None
263,883
13,699

-1year
251,522
13,073

35.

Contingent Liabilities

No events have occurred that would give rise to the need to account for any contingent liabilities.

36.

Contingent Assets

No events have occurred that are expected to result in the creation of an asset.
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